Centre for Historical Archaeology
University of Sydney

Resource Collection
Not to be Removed
ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATIONS ON THE
FORMER AUSTRALIAN GAS LIGHT COMPANY SITE
HAYMARKET, SYDNEY

A Report for Australian Construction Services (NSW Region)
Department of Administrative Services
by
Rosemary Annable
October 1989
VOLUME 3: SITE PHOTOGRAPHS
CONTENTS

VOLUME 3

S1 The 1830s stone and brick drain. Layers of deposit in Section 44 (20/1A)

S2 The side wall of the drain: sandstone base with brick arch
Section 44 (20/6A)

S3 Brick side drain in Section 40 beneath the foundations of later Hay Street shops (19/33A)

S4 Section of side drain, north-west side of Section 40
Detail (19/37A)

S5 Arch of stone and brick drain adjacent to foundations of Austen Building which have cut through the line of the drain (18/32)

S6 Detail of brick arch of drain after machine removal of part of structure, beneath later boundary wall (18/37)

S7 Section 47: top of brick and stone drain as cut through by sewer line (20/26A)

S8 Section 47 South end showing wooden drain? in construction fill (20/25A)

S9 Section 40: the brick and stone drain beneath the southern boundary of the Manse allotment, running north-east (20/16A)

S10 The brick and stone drain running beneath the Manse, with the stonework of the cellar entry on top of the brickwork. Photographed in 1989 after the edge of the site had been cut back for construction work to proceed (21/4A)

S11 The Presbyterian Manse at the corner of Pitt Street and Hay Street (6/35)

S12 The roof of the Presbyterian Manse and adjacent shops in Hay Street and Pitt Street before demolition in 1988 (3/11)

S13 The west wall of the Presbyterian Manse after the demolition of adjacent buildings, with the surviving south wall of the original kitchen (9/11A)
S14 The south wall of the original Manse kitchen as found during demolition of the surrounding buildings (9/15A)

S15 Part of the kitchen area of No. 199 Hay Street with plasterboard and tiling attached to the stone wall of the original Manse kitchen (9/17A)

S16 The cellar entry by the west wall of the Manse (9/23A)

S17 The Manse stables with the foundations of the east wall (in foreground) reused as the foundations for the later shops (8/5)

S18 The Manse privies with later sewer connections (8/2)

S19 The Manse privies after excavation, looking south (19/15A)

S20 Hay Street looking west from the corner of Castlereagh Street showing the Manse with its original fenestration as occupied by 'Beehive Stores' (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 9 Page 185)

S21 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel partially excavated, looking north-west. The central cross wall is of later date forming a foundation for the later shops (8/28)

S22 A large deposit of breakfast cups found at the north-west corner of the Chapel fill below floor level (8/18)

S23 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel fully excavated, looking south-west. The cross walls are of later date built for the shops constructed after the Chapel had been demolished (17/27A)

S24 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel, looking south showing the entrance porch and five surviving stone floor supports (17/26A)

S25 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel showing the stone and brick cross walls added in 1907 for the construction of the shops on the site. Gasholder No. 4 is in the background (17/15A)

S26 The entrance porch of the Wesleyan Chapel (17/12A)

S27 The west wall of the Chapel with the later cross wall abutting it (13/10)
S28 The south wall of the Chapel with the wall of the later shops abutting it. The concrete floor was the floor of the cellar of No. 191 Hay Street. The foundations of the Chapel were reduced to this level in 1926 when additions to the Austen Building were made (15/3).

S29 The foundations of the lavatory block, light well and shop in Parker Street built in 1926 as additions to the Austen Building, looking west (8/23).

S30 The foundations of the north-west corner of the Austen Building with, on the right, the remains of the stone foundations of the house built in Hay Street in the 1850s next to the Wesleyan Chapel (15/27).

S31 Part of the stone channelled course of the stream which used to run across the site, to the south of the Wesleyan Chapel (17/8A).

S32 The rebuilding of the New Belmore Markets in 1914 showing the Austen Building in Hay Street with its original facade and the shops built on the Wesleyan Chapel site. The Engineers’ Building is in the course of construction with Gasholder No. 5 behind (Council of the City of Sydney Demolition photographs 51/3281, CRS 168/6).

S33 The back of the Pitt Street shops with cantilevered lavatories and the back doors and windows of several of the shops bricked in (2/10A).

S34 The back of the carriageway between the terrace of shops in Pitt Street showing the difference in the brickwork of the two parts of the building (2/7A).

S35 The back of the Pitt Street shops: the south-east corner of the garage yard (2/5A).

S36 The foundations of one of the hay and chaff sheds against the north wall of the Pitt Street stables (7/35A).

S37 Brick edging at the front and back of one of the buildings of the first phase of stables occupation, by the north wall, with later vehicle inspection pit (5/29).

S38 Traces of timber flooring at the north-west corner of the stables, first phase, with brick edging (6/9A).

S39 The wooden floors of the first phase of stables occupation, by the west wall looking north, with modern drainage disturbance (7/25A).
S40 As S39 but with the traces of timber flooring removed revealing the main floor joists (7/10A)

S41 The south-west corner of the stables, first phase, the remains of timber flooring and first brick edging below later brick floors (7/18A)

S42 As S41 at a lower level showing main timber divisions and joists (7/28A)

S43 Slight remains of timber flooring at the south-west corner of the stables overlaid by later brick floors and edging (5/14)

S44 The same area as S43 showing the disturbed state of the brick floors in this area (4/35)

S45 The entrance to the stables, looking west, with stone and brick paving (5/7)

S46 Detail of brick paving overlying wooden blocks with timber beam at the entrance to the stables (5/2)

S47 Brick flooring along the west wall of the stables looking north (4/4)

S48 Ceramic sump by the brick edging and sandstone block yard of the third stables phase (5/20)

S49 Base for brick pier, second stables phase (4/25)

S50 Pitt Street South: the Fire Station, Pitt Street shops and Manse, with the shadow of Gasholder No. 5 (Royal Australian Historical Society Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 140)

S51 The construction of the approaches to the Central Railway in 1902 showing the south end of Pitt Street and the Belmore Markets looking north (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 38)

S52 The construction of the approaches to the Central Railway in December 1902. The corner of Pitt Street and Gipps (Barlow) Street looking west, showing Anthony Hordern's warehouse next to the AGL Showroom (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 46)

S53 Pitt Street South looking north c. late 1860s showing the Belmore Markets. The Fire Station is on the left behind which the south wall of the Manse can just be seen (Mitchell Library Small Picture File)
S54 Belmore Park looking south-west to Christ Church St. Laurence c. late 1870s. Gasholder No. 2 can be seen in its second location at the corner of Gipps Street and Pitt Street. Behind are the premises of Cormack Smith, wheelwright and farrier (Royal Australian Historical Society Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 96).

S55 Pier 2 of Gasholder No. 2, looking south-west (10/25A)

S56 Base of Pier 2 showing timber beams around the circumference of the tank base (10/8A)

S57 Detail of timber beams at the base of the gasholder tank (10/21A)

S58 Pier 4 of Gasholder No. 2 beneath the foundations of the later AGL Showroom (10/3A)

S59 The well beneath the Hordern Building as uncovered by machine (10/30A)

S60 The top of the well beneath the Hordern Building after further clearance (18/7)

S61 Detail of the partial section of the well (18/2)

S62 Gasholder No. 5 and the AGL Main Hall during final clearance for new construction to begin, 1989 (21/24A)
S1  The 1830s stone and brick drain. Layers of deposit in Section 44 (20/1A)

S2  The side wall of the drain: sandstone base with brick arch. Section 44 (20/6A)
S3 Brick side drain in Section 40 beneath the foundations of later Hay Street shops (19/33A)

S4 Section of side drain, north-west side of Section 40
Detail (19/37A)
55. Arch of stone and brick drain adjacent to foundations of Austen Building which have cut through the line of the drain (18/32)

56. Detail of brick arch of drain after machine removal of part of structure, beneath later boundary wall (18/37)
Section 47: top of brick and stone drain as cut through by sewer line (20/25A)

Section 47 South end showing wooden drain? in construction fill (20/25A)
S2 Section 40 of the brick and stone drain beneath the southern boundary of the Hanse allotment, running north-east (20/16A)

S10 The brick and stone drain running beneath the Hanse, with the stonework of the cellar entry on top of the brickwork. Photographed in 1989 after the edge of the site had been cut back for construction work to proceed (21/4A)
5.11 The Presbyterian Manse at the corner of Pitt Street and Hay Street (16/75)

5.12 The roof of the Presbyterian Manse and adjacent shops in Hay Street and Pitt Street before demolition in 1988 (3/11)
9.17 The west wall of the Presbyterian Manse after the demolition of adjacent buildings, with the surviving south wall of the original kitchen (9/11A).

9.14 The south wall of the original Manse kitchen as found during demolition of the surrounding buildings (9/15A).
S15. Part of the kitchen area of No. 199 Hay Street with plasterboard and tiling attached to the stone wall of the original Manse kitchen (9/17A)

S16. The cellar entry by the west wall of the Manse (9/23A)
S17. The Manse stables with the foundations of the east wall (in foreground) reused as the foundations for the later shops (8/5).
The Manse privies with later sewer connections (B/2)

The Manse privies after excavation, looking south (19/15A)
20 Hay Street looking west from the corner of Castlereagh Street showing the Hanse with its original fenestration as occupied by 'Beehive Stores' (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 9 Page 185)
S21 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel partially excavated, looking north west. The central cross wall is of later date forming a foundation for the later shops (8/18).

S22 A large deposit of breakfast cups found at the north-west corner of the Chapel fill below floor level (8/18).
523 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel fully excavated, looking south-west. The cross walls are of later date built for the shops constructed after the Chapel had been demolished (17/27A)

524 The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel, looking south showing the entrance porch and five surviving stone floor supports (17/26A)
S25. The foundations of the Wesleyan Chapel showing the stone and brick cross walls added in 1907 for the construction of the shops on the site. Gas holder No. 4 is in the background (17/15A)

S26. The entrance porch of the Wesleyan Chapel (17/12A)
527 The west wall of the Chapel with the later cross wall abutting it (13/10).

528 The south wall of the Chapel with the wall of the later shops abutting it. The concrete floor was the floor of the cellar of No. 191 Hay Street. The foundations of the Chapel were reduced to this level in 1926 when additions to the Austen Building were made (15/3).
S29. The foundations of the lavatory block, light well and shop in Parker Street built in 1926 as additions to the Austen Building, looking west (3/23)
530 The foundations of the north-west corner of the Austen Building with, on the right, the remains of the stone foundations of the house built in Hay Street in the 1850s next to the Wesleyan Chapel (15/27)

531 Part of the stone channelled course of the stream which used to run across the site, to the south of the Wesleyan Chapel (17/8A)
The rebuilding of the New Belmore Markets in 1914 showing the
Austen Building in Hay Street with its original facade and the shops
built on the Wesleyan Chapel site. The Engineers' Building is in the
course of construction with Gasholder No. 5 behind (Council of the
City of Sydney Demolition photographs 51/3281, CRS 168/6)
537 The back of the Pitt Street shops with cantilevered lavatories and the back doors and windows of several of the shops bricked in (2/10A).

534 The back of the carriageway between the terrace of shops in Pitt Street showing the difference in the brickwork of the two parts of the building (2/7A).
535 The back of the Pitt Street shops, the south-east corner of the garage yard (2/5A)

536 The foundations of one of the hay and chaff sheds against the north wall of the Pitt Street stables (7/35A)
S37 Brick edging at the front and back of one of the buildings of the first phase of stables occupation, by the north wall, with later vehicle inspection pit (5/29).

S38 Traces of timber flooring at the north-west corner of the stables, first phase, with brick edging (6/9A).
979 The wooden floors of the first phase of stables occupation, by the west wall looking north, with modern drainage disturbance (7/25A).

940 As 939 but with the traces of timber flooring removed revealing the main floor joists (7/10A).
541. The south-west corner of the stables, first phase, the remains of timber flooring and first brick edging below later brick floors (7/18A)

542. As 541 at a lower level showing main timber divisions and joists (7/28A)
S43. Slight remains of timber flooring at the south-west corner of the stables overlaid by later brick floors and edging (5/14)

S44. The same area as S43 showing the disturbed state of the brick floors in this area (4/35)
5-45. The entrance to the stables, looking west, with stone and brick paving (5/7)

5-46. Detail of brick paving overlying wooden blocks with timber beam at the entrance to the stables (5/2)
547 Brick flooring along the west wall of the stables looking north (4/4)
549 Ceramic sump by the brick edging and sandstone block yard of the third stables phase (5/20)

549 Base for brick pier, second stables phase (4/25)
Pitt Street South - the Fire Station, Pitt Street shops and Manse, with the shadow of Gasholder No 5. (Royal Australian Historical Society Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 140.)
The construction of the approaches to the Central Railway in 1902, showing the south end of Pitt Street and the Belmore Markets looking north. (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 38)
The construction of the approaches to the Central Railway in December 1902, The corner of Pitt Street and Gipps (Barlow) Street looking west, showing Anthony Hordern's warehouse next to the AGL Showroom (Royal Australian Historical Society - Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 46.)
553. Pitt Street South looking north c. late 1860s showing the Delmore Markets. The Fire Station is on the left behind which the south wall of the Manse can just be seen (Mitchell Library Small Picture File)
SS4 Belmore Park looking south-west to Christ Church St. Laurence c. late 1870s. Gas holder No. 2 can be seen in its second location at the corner of Gipps Street and Pitt Street. Behind are the premises of Cormack Smith, wheelwright and farrier (Royal Australian Historical Society Foster Collection Vol. 10 Page 46).
The well beneath the western Gilgal site was opened by machine in 1927.

In the hope of the well yielding water, digging was halted after further exposure in 1929.
5033:Boatner's Flats 5 and the art 5.2 indicator remain high. More improvement for new construction to begin. (November 1984)